#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 84,726

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

DEC 21 1994

#### STATE OF FLORIDA

Petitioner,

-VS-

#### JONATHAN HILL

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0988110
Department of Legal Affairs
401 N.W. 2nd Avenue, Suite N921
Post Office Box 013241
Miami, Florida 33101
(305) 377-5441

###

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On October 27, 1992, Jonathan Hill was charged by information with burglary, grand theft motor vehicle, and possession of burglary tools in violation of §§ 810.02(3), 812.014(1)(2)(c), and 810.06, Florida Statutes (1991). (R. 1-5). The charges all arose from Hill's taking Louie Cheranfant's car on October 7, 1992. (R. 1-5).

On June 2, 1993, the state filed a Notice of the State's Intention to Seek Enhanced Penalty Pursuant to F.S. 775.084. (R. 26). The case was tried by jury on June 7 and 9, 1993, and the jury found Hill guilty as charged. (R. 28-30). On June 9, 1993, the trial court adjudicated Hill guilty of the charges, and ordered a Pre-Sentence Investigation report. (R. 22, 31-32).

On July 29, 1993, the trial court conducted a sentencing hearing at which testimony was heard from both state and defense witnesses. (R. 41-64). At the end of the evidence and counsel's argument, the trial court found that Hill qualified as a Habitual Violent Felony Offender. (R. 62). The trial court then sentenced Hill to ten (10) years on each f the three counts with a minimum mandatory term of five (5) years. (R. 62). The ten (10) year sentences were to run consecutively. (R. 34-36, 62). At the time of sentencing a Sentencing Guidelines Scoresheet was filled out. (R. 37). Due to his substantial prior record, Hill scored three hundred forty-two (342) points. (R. 37). This score corresponds with a recommended sentence of twenty-two (22) to twenty-seven (27) years with a permitted sentence of seventeen (17) to forty (40) years. (R. 37).

Hill timely appealed his convictions and sentence to the Third District Court of Appeal. (R. 39-40). On appeal, Hill raised the following issues: 1) that he was entitled to a new trial

due to the state's exercise of a peremptory challenge to excuse an African-American juror; 2) that he was improperly sentenced pursuant to §775.087, Fla. Stat.; and 3) that the trial court improperly imposed consecutive sentences under the Habitual Violent Felony Offender Statute. (R. 69-73). The Third District Court of Appeal found no merit in Hill's first issue, and the state conceded error on Hill's second issue. (R. 70). However, the Third District reversed Hill's consecutive sentences on the basis of *Hale v. State*, 630 So. 2d 521 (Fla. 1993) *cert.denied* Case No. 94-5612 (U.S. Oct. 3, 1994). (R. 70). Additionally, the Third District certified the following as a question of great public importance:

Whether *Hale v. State*, 630 So. 2d 521 (Fla. 1993) *cert.denied* Case No. 94-5612 (U.S. Oct. 3, 1994) precludes under all circumstances the imposition of consecutive sentences for crimes arising from a single criminal episode for habitual felony or habitual violent felony offenders?

Subsequent to the certification of the above question, the state filed a Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction, thereby commencing the instant proceeding.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The Florida Legislature intended that separate sentences be given for each offense committed regardless of whether they arose from a single criminal episode or not, and authorized the trial court to impose consecutive or concurrent sentences at its discretion. Additionally, the Legislature has provided for enhanced penalties for Habitual Felony Offenders and Habitual Violent Felony Offenders.

This Court prohibited the imposition of consecutive minimum mandatory sentences when the offenses were committed during a single criminal episode. This Court's rationale has focused on the denial of eligibility for parole during those periods, and absence of specific language authorizing such a sentence. This principle is now being extended to prohibit any consecutive sentences pursuant to the Habitual Felony Offender and habitual Violent Felony Offender statute for offenses committed during a single criminal episode.

Application of this principle to the case at bar renders the habitualization statute meaningless. Instead of preventing excessive enhancement, application of the principle results in a downward departure from the recommended and permitted sentence under the Sentencing Guidelines. Thus, this Court should limit the principle to only prohibit consecutive mandatory sentences. Alternatively, this Court should recognize an exception to the principle whenever prohibition of consecutive sentences results in a downward departure from the permitted sentence under the Sentencing Guidelines.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I.

HALE v. STATE, 630 So. 2d 521 (Fla. 1993) cert. denied Case No. 94-5612 (U.S. Oct. 3, 1994) SHOULD BE INTERPRETED TO ONLY PROHIBIT THE IMPOSITION OF CONSECUTIVE MINIMUM MANDATORY SENTENCES FOR EACH OFFENSE COMMITTED DURING THE COURSE OF A SINGLE CRIMINAL EPISODE UNDER § 775.084, FLORIDA STATUTES.

The Florida Criminal Code provides the following language under the subsection entitled "Rules of Construction",

Whoever, in the course of one criminal transaction or episode, commits an act or acts which constitute one or more separate criminal offenses, upon conviction and adjudication of guilt, shall be sentenced separately for each criminal offense; and the sentencing judge may order the sentences to be served concurrently or consecutively.

§ 775.021(4)(a), Fla. Stat. (1993). The section later reads,

The intent of the legislature is to convict and sentence for each criminal offense committed in the course of one criminal episode or transaction and not to allow the principle of lenity as set forth in subsection (1) to determine legislative intent.<sup>1</sup>

§ 775.021(4)(b), Fla. Stat. (1993).<sup>2</sup> Thus, the legislature was explicit in its intent to punish for

Exceptions to this rule of construction are:

<sup>1.</sup> Offenses which require identical elements of proof.

<sup>2.</sup> Offenses which are degrees of the same offense as provided by statute.

<sup>3.</sup> Offenses which are lesser offenses the statutory elements of which are subsumed by the greater offense.

<sup>§ 775.021(4)(</sup>b), Fla. Stat. (1993).

Subsection (1) of the statute in turn provides,

each offense committed, regardless of whether they were the result of a single criminal episode or committed at separate times and places.

However, this Court prohibited the imposition of consecutive minimum mandatory terms of imprisonment when the sentence was already enhanced pursuant to § 775.087, Florida Statutes, if the offenses charged arose out of a single criminal episode. *Palmer v. State*, 438 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1983). This Court reasoned,

Nowhere in the language of section 775.087(2) do we find express authority by which a trial court may deny, under subsection 775.087(2), a defendant eligibility for parole for a period greater than three calendar years.

Id. at 3. This Court's expressed concern focused on the fact that "Palmer . . . was sentenced to thirty-nine years, without eligibility for parole, based upon a statute expressly authorizing denial of eligibility for parole for only three years." Id.<sup>3</sup> Allowing the trial court to impose consecutive sentences in Palmer resulted in an exponential increase in the defendant's actual sentence served.

In Daniels v. State,<sup>4</sup> this Court extended this principle and held, in the context of minimum mandatory sentences imposed through § 775.084, Florida Statutes, the Habitual Felony

The provisions of this code and offenses defined by other statutes shall be strictly construed; when the language is susceptible of differing constructions, it shall be construed most favorable to the accused.

<sup>§ 775.021,</sup> Fla. Stat. (1993).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Statutes specifically denying eligibility for parole for a prescribed period of time have survived numerous constitutional attacks. See, Scott v. State, 369 So. 2d 330 (Fla. 1979); Sowell v. State, 342 So. 2d 969 (Fla 1977); Owens v. State, 316 So. 2d 537 (Fla 1975); Dorminey v. State, 314 So. 2d 134 (Fla. 1975); Owens v. State, 300 So. 2d 70 (Fla. 1st DCA) appeal dismissed, 305 So. 2d 203 (Fla. 1974).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> 595 So. 2d 952 (Fla. 1992).

Offender and Habitual Violent Felony Offender statute, that:

Because the statute prescribing the penalty for Daniels' offenses does not contain a provision for a minimum mandatory sentence, we hold that his minimum mandatory sentences for the crimes he committed arising out of the same criminal episode may only be imposed concurrently and not consecutively.

Id. at 954. Again, this Court's reasoning centered upon denial of eligibility for parole. Thus, a common thread emerged: if the statute proscribing the conduct the defendant was charged with expressly provided for a minimum mandatory term, then the principle stated under "Rules of Construction" prevailed. Namely, the discretion to impose concurrent or consecutive sentences remained within the province of the trial court. However, if the statute proscribing the conduct the defendant was charged with did not provide for a minimum mandatory portion (and the defendant's sentence was enhanced pursuant to a statute which did provide for a minimum mandatory portion) then the minimum mandatory portions could not be "stacked" if the charges arose out of a single criminal episode.<sup>5</sup>

In Hale v. State, 6 this Court reversed Hale's consecutive minimum mandatory sentences imposed pursuant to the Habitual Felony Offender and Habitual Violent Felony Offender Act.

#### Id. This Court reasoned as follows:

We find nothing in the language of the habitual offender statute which suggests that the legislature also intended that, once the sentences from multiple crimes committed during a single episode have been enhanced through the habitual offender states, the total penalty should then be further increased by ordering that the sentences run consecutively.

Please note that ever since 1983 there has effectively been no parole, since release from incarceration may only occur in a limited number of statutorily described circumstances. § 921.001(10)(a), Fla. Stat.(1993). The circumstances for release are even further limited for offenses committed after January 1, 1994. § 921.001(10)(b), Fla. Stat.(1993).

<sup>6 630</sup> So. 2d 521 (Fla. 1993) cert. denied Case No. 94-5612 (U.S. Oct. 3, 1994).

Id. at 524. Thus, it appears that once the Habitual Felony Offender or Habitual Violent Felony Offender statute enhances the penalty which would have been imposed, this Court has precluded the imposition of consecutive sentences if the charges arose out of a single criminal episode. However, this Court's decision in both Hale and Daniels reversed consecutive minimum mandatory sentences. Both, Hale's and Daniels', sentences were significantly increased as a result of their being made to run consecutively. The resulting sentences were an exponential increase over the statutorily mandated sentences for the actual crimes committed. Moreover, since it was the minimum mandatory portion that was consecutive, the sentences resulted in a denial of any form of, or consideration for, early release during that time.

However, if *Hale* is interpreted to prohibit consecutive sentences for crimes committed during a single criminal episode in all circumstances, as done by the Third District, it would render the habitualization statute meaningless. In other words, habitualizing Hill and similarly situated defendants, would result in a downward departure from the Sentencing Guidelines permitted sentence. In effect, habitualization, under this interpretation of *Hale*, would accomplish the opposite effect of the Legislature's intent behind habitualization statutes. It would result in the imposition of a diminished sentence. Surely, this Court could not have intended such a result.

Allowing *Hale* to prevent consecutive sentences in this case thwarts the legislative intent behind §775.0841, Fla. Stat. (1993), by causing a sentence which is a downward departure from the Sentencing Guidelines.<sup>7</sup> If Hill's ten (10) year sentences are made to run concurrently, Hill,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Section 775.0841, Fla. Stat.(1993) in pertinent part states,

The Legislature hereby finds that a substantial and disproportionate number of

in effect, will receive the equivalent of a substantial downward departure sentence instead of the enhanced sentence the State sought. According to the Sentencing Guidelines Scoresheet which was filed along with the judgment and sentence, Hill scored three hundred and forty-two (342) points. (R. 37). Under the Sentencing Guidelines, this makes Hill eligible for a recommended sentence of twenty-two (22) to twenty-seven (27) years and a permitted sentence of seventeen (17) to forty (40) years in prison. However, the State filed a Notice of State's Intention to Seek Enhanced Penalty Pursuant to F.S. 775.084 (R. 26), in order to seek incarceration of Hill for an extended term. *See*, §775.0841, Fla. Stat. (1993). Therefore, it is clear that the State intended to pursue the maximum allowable sentence.

Having been habitualized, under §775.084, Fla. Stat. (1993), on each third degree felony, Hill was subject to a ten (10) year sentence, with a five (5) year minimum mandatory. See, §775.084(4)(b)(3), Fla. Stat. (1993). As Daniels, supra, precludes stacking of the minimum mandatory provisions, only one minimum mandatory sentence is effective. Thus, if Hale is interpreted to preclude consecutive ten (10) year sentences, Hill could receive at most, concurrent ten (10) year sentences on the three offenses with a minimum mandatory of five (5) years. This is, actually, the sentence allowed under § 775.084, Florida Statutes, for a single of these third degree felonies. This result is substantially different from the permitted sentence of seventeen (17) to forty (40) years under the Sentencing Guidelines.

serious crimes is committed in Florida by a relatively small number of multiple and repeat felony offenders, commonly known as career criminals. . . The Legislature intends to initiate and support increased efforts by state and local law enforcement agencies and state attorneys' offices to investigate, apprehend, and prosecute career criminals to incarcerate them for extended terms.

Furthermore, the concurrent five (5) year minimum mandatory sentences which Hill would receive will not suffice to compensate for the changing of three consecutive ten (10) year sentences to three concurrent ten (10) year sentences. Under the Sentencing Guidelines, Hill could have received three consecutive five (5) year sentences, without any minimum mandatory provision. It has been widely reported that, as a result of recent statutory amendments regarding gain time, and increases in prison capacity, a typical defendant can now be expected to serve seventy-five percent of his sentence, compared to perhaps less than one-third (1/2) of his sentence in 1990.8 Thus, on a non-habitualized, regular guidelines sentence of fifteen (15) years, Hill could expect to serve close to twelve (12) years. By contrast, with a habitualized sentence, pursuant to Hale as interpreted by the Third District, of three (3) concurrent ten (10) year sentences, with a five (5) year minimum mandatory, Hill, even with the minimum mandatory, can reasonably expect to be released in seven and a half (7 ½) years, and certainly within ten (10) years, even without any gain time reductions. This allows Hill, a Habitual Violent Felony Offender, to leave prison a full two years earlier than if he had been sentenced as a regular defendant under the Sentencing Guidelines. Thus, the concurrent minimum mandatory provisions, as far as Hill is concerned, are utterly meaningless if *Hale* is applied in such a way. This type of mechanical application of *Hale*, without any regard to practical considerations, effectively serves to render habitualization little more than a Christmas Bonus for defendants in situations similar to that of Hill. The trial court would have fared better by simply ignoring the habitualization statute and sentencing Hill under the sentencing guidelines.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See, attached Appendix A, "State prisons halt accelerated early releases: Prisons' revolving door grinds to a halt", The Miami Herald, December 9, 1994.

In view of the foregoing, such an application of *Hale* to the instant case would render habitualization virtually meaningless, as the trial court would be prohibited, by *Hale*, from doing anything of significance which could not have been done otherwise. As it can generally be presumed that the legislature intends that its pronouncements have some effect, such an application of *Hale* would be very questionable. The underlying premise of *Hale* is that consecutive minimum mandatory sentences are improper when the offenses are committed during the course of a single criminal episode. Accordingly, this Court should interpret *Hale* to only prohibit the imposition of consecutive minimum mandatory sentences for each offense committed during the course of a single criminal episode under § 775.084, Florida Statutes. Alternatively, this Court should recognize an exception to the principle whenever prohibition of consecutive sentences results in a downward departure from the permitted sentence under the Sentencing Guidelines.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the decision of the lower Court should be quashed.