FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAR 8 1995

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**CASE NO. 84,727** 

DCA NO. 93-2075

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

-vs-

JONATHAN HILL,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BENNETT H. BRUMMER Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1320 N.W. 14th Street Miana, Florida 33125 (305) 545-1961

JULIE M. LEVITT Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 832677

Counsel for Petitioner

#

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

630 So. 2d at 524, 525 (emphasis added).<sup>5</sup> The Petitioner's argument is without textual support in the decision.

Next, the State points out that Mr. Hill's sentence here after application of *Hale* actually will be less than his permitted guidelines sentence of seventeen to forty years, and his actual maximum allowable sentence of a total of fifteen years under the statutory maximum of five years each for these offenses. See § 775.082, Fla. Stat. (1991). The State then attempts to invoke the notion of the proverbial parade of horribles, suggesting that in every case such as this, defendants will receive a windfall - a downward departure from the guidelines and the rendering of the habitual offender statute as meaningless.

Much of the State's difficulty with this case flows from the fact that *Hale* had not yet been announced at the time Respondent was sentenced.<sup>7</sup> The State's concern is alleviated by the very fact of *Hale*'s announcement -- that is, in all cases now, trial judges are aware of *Hale* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Interestingly, this is the very language quoted by the Petitioner in its brief. The import of this language, however, seems to have been lost.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>One must keep in mind that had Mr. Hill been sentenced under the guidelines, the maximum sentence he could have gotten was fifteen years because these offenses at issue were third-degree felonies carrying a statutory maximum of five years. As a result, then, even a guidelines sentence necessarily would have been a downward departure sentence in any case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Respondent was sentenced in July 1993; this Court did not announce *Hale* until October 1993.

and can discern, and choose from among, the various options available to them and fashion the most appropriate sentence in a given case. Thus, there will not be a case where the trial court's hands are "bound" as the State asserts.<sup>8</sup>

Critically important also is that in every case, it always is at the instance of the State that a trial court is asked to declare a defendant to be an habitual offender and to so sentence that defendant. With a full awareness of Hale, the State can simply take stock of its implications in a given case and act accordingly. If the State finds the results will be more favorable to it under the guidelines, it simply can choose not ask for an habitual offender sentence. Thus, as the answer truly rests in the State's own hands, there is no reason for this Court to step in and fashion some other rule which necessarily only will be redundant of what the State already has available to it. Respondent submits that that would not be a fitting exercise of this Court's jurisdiction and scarce judicial resources.

As to the State's claim that there has been a dramatic increase in the past few months in the prison bed space available and so defendants will be spending more time in prison -- a contention whose source is a simple newspaper article -- Respondent offers two points. First, this would seem to be an argument militating for the application of the guidelines in any given case and not for the overruling of Hale which is what the State asks. After all, if the State can incarcerate defendants longer under the guidelines, there is less need to habitualize them. It seems that once again, the remedy lies in the State's own hands.

Second, the opinion in *Hale* is not grounded at all on a statistical analysis of how much prison bed space is available; rather, it rests entirely on statutory construction and legislative history. Thus, there is no basis for this court to change this precedent on a question of law based on such statistical evidence, particularly when that statistic comes from a mere newspaper article and more importantly, is a statistic inherently subject to fluctuation based on State

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Moreover, as a matter of common sense as well, it is highly unlikely that the trial courts of this state would make a practice of using the habitual offender statute to circumvent the guidelines to give more *lenient* sentences.

budget availability, which itself is subject to the currents of political winds. Emotionally provocative though the State's argument may be, it simply does not warrant the exercise of this Court's discretionary jurisdiction and the overruling of *Hale*.

Finally, Respondent notes that as to the notion that the habitual offender statute has been made meaningless by *Hale* in cases such as this, one cannot overlook that Mr. Hill is going to serve fully twice what the law otherwise would allow on each of his individual convictions, and the five-year mandatory minimum that the trial court imposed means that Mr. Hill will serve on each conviction the entirety of what he could have received on each count individually under section 775.082. Similarly, the State has attempted to distinguish Mr. Hill from the defendants in *Daniels* and *Hale* by showing that Daniels's and Hale's sentences "were significantly increased as a result of their being made to run consecutively." Brief of Petitioner at 7. The implication obviously is that Mr. Hill would not have experienced a similar fate, but in fact he did. His guidelines may have run from seventeen to forty years, but again he only could have received a maximum of fifteen years under the guidelines; his consecutive habitual offender sentences would have resulted in a thirty-year sentence. The State's argued distinction thus fails.

In short, the State's argument is nothing more than a plea for rehearing of *Hale*, and a plea made without sound and compelling reasoning. The exercise of this court's jurisdiction is not warranted, and in any case even if this Court chooses to take this case and write an opinion, because the State has failed to prove, as it must, any credible reason for overruling *Hale*, this Court should affirm the result below.

II. THE TRIAL COURT DEPRIVED RESPONDENT OF HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL TRIAL UNDER THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS BY FAILING TO CONDUCT A PROPER *NEIL* INQUIRY.

The state and federal constitutions guarantee all defendants in criminal cases the right to a fair and impartial trial. Art. I §§ 9, 16, Fla. Const.; U.S. Const. arts. VI, XIV. During voir dire, the trial court improperly permitted the State to exercise a peremptory challenge to venireperson Juanita Leggett over defense objection, depriving Respondent, Mr. Hill, of his right to a fair trial under the state and federal constitutions.

Respondent brought this violation to the attention of the Third District Court of Appeal on appeal. However, the Third District dismissed the issue in a footnote, saying only:

The defendant claims he is entitled to a new trial because the prosecution improperly used a peremptory strike on an African-American potential juror. After reviewing the record, we find no merit in this argument.

(A. 2). For the reasons that follow, this ruling was plainly incorrect and Respondent urges this Court to act rectify this violation of his rights.

The right to exercise a peremptory challenge is, at present, firmly embedded in Florida law. See e.g., Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.350 (providing for peremptory challenges). The right applies both to the State and to the defense. However, where defense counsel makes a timely objection and demonstrates on the record that the person the State seeks to challenge is a member of distinct racial group and that there is a strong likelihood that he is being challenged solely on the basis of his race, the state must provide clear and reasonably specific racially-neutral reasons for the strike. State v. Neil, 457 So. 2d 481 (Fla. 1984), clarified, State v. Castillo, 486 So. 2d 565 (Fla. 1986); State v. Slappy, 522 So. 2d 18 (Fla.), cert. denied, 487 U.S. 1219, 108 S. Ct. 2873, 101 L.Ed.2d 909 (Fla. 1988). The State's reason must be

The rule is the same when it is the defense moving to strike a venireperson peremptorily.

<sup>[</sup>T]he nature of the peremptory challenge makes it uniquely suited to masking discriminatory motives. . . Traditionally, a peremptory challenge permits dismissal of a juror based on no

supported by the record. Slappy, 522 So. 2d at 23.

In the instant case, during questioning by defense counsel, the following exchange occurred:

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Have you ever been the victim of a crime?

MS. LEGGETT: Three times they broke into my residence, but as I look at life, these are material things. I came into this world with nothing and I will carry nothing out of this world. It hurts, but there is nothing I can do about it.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: You strike me as a woman of some faith.

MS. LEGGETT: I am a Christian.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Sanctified?

MS. LEGGETT: I am a Protestant.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Is there any problem with your believes [sic] and what goes on in this courtroom? Do you see any conflict between your personal believes [sic] and what we do here?

MS. LEGGETT? So far, no.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Finally, can you give everyone a fair trial here?

MS. LEGGETT: Yes.

The State sought to exercise a peremptory challenge to Ms. Leggett. Defense counsel objected and asked for a *Neil* inquiry. The court asked the State for its reason:

more than "sudden impression and unaccountable prejudices we are apt to conceive upon the bare looks and gestures of another." 4 W. Blackstone, Commentaries 353 (1807). This ancient tradition, however, is to some degree inconsistent with the requirements of the Florida and federal constitutions. We thus cannot permit the peremptory's use when it results in the exclusion of persons from jury service due to constitutionally impermissible prejudice. To the extent of the inconsistency, the constitutional principles must prevail, notwithstanding the traditionally unlimited scope of the peremptory.

Slappy, 522 So.2d at 20 (emphasis added). Where a party attempts to exercise a peremptory challenge in violation of these principles, the fashioning of a remedy is at the discretion of the trial court. Jefferson v. State, 595 So.2d 38 (Fla. 1992).

[PROSECUTOR]: I have a few, but the one most compelling is when Ms. Leggett stated -- in response to Mr. Ferster's inquiry about whether she had her car stolen, she stated these are material things, that we come into this world with nothing and leave with nothing. Ms. Leggett will not put that much importance on the fact this was a stolen car.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: I will object. May I have an opportunity to respond? She stated that she is a Christian woman and it was a Christian statement. I asked whether or not her believes [sic] would get in the way of being fair and impartial and she said she had no doubt she would be fair and impartial.

THE COURT: I find it is a racially neutral reason. I am concerned because of her health. I am allowing it.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Over defense objection.

[PROSECUTOR]: That was one of my reasons, health concerns.

The court then proceeded with additional selection. Defense counsel renewed his objection to the State's strike before the jury panel was sworn.<sup>11</sup>

The trial court plainly erred here under *Slappy*, which requires the court to weigh the credibility of the explanation given and to "determine whether the proffered reasons, if they are neutral and reasonable, are indeed supported by the record." *Tillman v. State*, 522 So. 2d 14, 16-17 (Fla. 1988); *Smith v. State*, 574 So. 2d 1195, 1196 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991).

Under the case law, the trial judge may not merely accept the reasons proffered at face value, but must evaluate those reasons as he would weigh any disputed fact. As the supreme court indicated in *Slappy*, an explanation offered by the state may appear reasonable, but may still be found upon critical examination to be a pretext.

Mansell v. State, 609 So. 2d 679, 682 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). "It is not sufficient that the state's explanations for its peremptory challenges are facially race neutral. The state's explanations must be critically evaluated by the trial court to assure they are not pretexts for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>The issue, therefore, was properly preserved. *E.g., Mitchell v. State*, 620 So. 2d 1008 (Fla. 1993) (to preserve *Neil* error, complaining party must renew objection before jury sworn); *State v. Fox*, 587 So. 2d 464 (Fla. 1991) (complaining party must dispute incorrect factual assertion made by striking party to preserve error).

racial discrimination." Id. at 683 (quoting Roundtree v. State, 546 So. 2d 1042, 1044-45 (Fla. 1989)).

The rule also is articulated in *Gooch v. State*, 605 So. 2d 570 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), where the First District reversed for a new trial because, after the defendant objected that the State's reason was not race-neutral, the court declined to conduct further inquiry on the basis that no explanation was required. The First District held:

As in *Barwick v. State*, 547 So.2d 612 (Fla.1989), we find no indication in the instant record that the trial judge made a conscientious evaluation of appellant's *Neil* claim by critically considering the reason given by the state for the strike. Therefore, pursuant to *Neil* and *Barwick*, we are compelled to reverse appellant's conviction and remand for a new trial.

Id. at 571.

And finally there is *Jones v. State*, 640 So. 2d 1161 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994), which applies the rule on factual circumstances similar to the instant case. In *id.*, three African-American venirepersons all revealed during voir dire that they had some connection to the defendant, Jones. Yet, upon further questioning, they all indicated they could reach a fair decision based on the facts and the law. After its challenges for cause were denied as to each of these persons, the State then sought to exercise peremptory challenges to each. Defense counsel raised a *Neil* objection, and the court required the State to give its reasoning. The State offered that in each case, it was the same reason as the State had tried to strike them for cause -- their perceived partiality. The trial court accepted this reason.

The First District, however, did not, and reversed for a new trial, in the process noting that "[t]he state's reasons cannot be accepted merely at face value by the trial court," and the inquiry must be not only whether the proffered reasons are neutral and reasonable but also whether they are not merely a pretext. *Id.* at 1163 (citing *Slappy*, 522 So. 2d at 22). The trial court had inquired as to reasonableness and neutrality but had made no finding at all on the question of pretext. The district court held:

[T]he trial court failed to conduct a full and critical evaluation of

the state's reasons. Although the trial court's determination as to the sufficiency of the state's reasons ordinarily would be accorded deference on appeal, *Hall v. Daee*, 602 So. 2d 512 (Fla. 1992), such deference cannot be shown where the finding was never made. *Reynolds [v. State]*, 576 So. 2d [1300 (Fla. 1991)] at 1302. For that reason, we are constrained to hold that the trial court's erroneous application of the law set forth in *Neil*, and developed further in *Slappy*, *Johans*, and *Mansell*, compels reversal and remand for a new trial.

#### Id. at 1163.

Under these decisions, it is plain that the trial court failed to comply with the applicable procedure in the instant case and that reversal is warranted here as it was in *Jones*. When defense counsel took issue with the State's assertion that Ms. Leggett "will not put much importance on the fact this was a stolen car," by objecting that she had affirmed that she "had no doubt she would be fair and impartial" in response to his very question of whether her religious beliefs would affect her ability to decide this case, the court merely responded, "I find it is a racially neutral reason. I am concerned because of her health. I am allowing it." This is not sufficient under the case law. This bare statement hardly can be characterized as a critical evaluation testing the reasonableness and neutrality of the State's asserted reason, and separate and apart from this, there was no absolutely no finding by the trial court on the issue of whether the State's reason was nevertheless a pretext. As a result, the district court below incorrectly denied Respondent's claim that the trial court had failed to comply with the requirements of *Neil* and its progeny.

Further, had the trial court engaged in the requisite analysis here, there can be no doubt that reasonable persons could not differ that the strike would have been disallowed; Ms. Leggett affirmatively stated with no equivocation at all that she could give both sides a fair and impartial trial and she saw no conflict between her beliefs and her prospective duties as a juror. It also is worth noting that if the State truly had a genuine concern about her ability to be fair after her unequivocal affirmation that she could be fair, the State certainly could have asked for

an opportunity to question Ms. Leggett further.<sup>12</sup> The State, however, did not do so and on appeal is bound by her unassailed affirmation that she could be fair and impartial, as the State was in *Jones*.

The State's strike also was not saved by its after-the-fact adoption of the trial court's offering that it was concerned about Ms. Leggett's health.<sup>13,14</sup> This simply was not the reason the State offered when the court demanded an explanation.

Finally, the trial court's "note, for the Record, that Mr. Pierce has been accepted and he is black," is irrelevant and unavailing.

Because even the exercise of a single racially-motivated prosecution strike is constitutionally forbidden, *State v. Slappy*, 522 So.2d 18 (Fla.1988), *cert. denied*, 487 U.S. 1219, 108 S.Ct. 2873, 101 L.Ed.2d 909 (1988), it does not matter for these purposes whether other black jurors actually serve on the defendant's jury. *Slappy*, 522 So.2d at 21; *see also Stubbs v. State*, 540 So.2d 255 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989); *Moriyon v. State*, 543 So.2d 379 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989), *review dismissed*, 549 So.2d 1014 (Fla.1989).

Smith, 574 So. 2d at 1196.

The trial court erred in allowing the State to exercise the peremptory challenge in the first instance, and the Third District Court of Appeal incorrectly affirmed this ruling.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>See, e.g., Gibson v. State, 603 So. 2d 711, 712 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992) (noting that one of the factors to be considered according to Slappy is whether the striking party failed to examine the juror or makes a perfunctory examination; reversing for new trial under Slappy where "rejected juror here was simply not questioned in any way about the alleged" facts that made him unacceptable to the State).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>In the instant case, Ms. Leggett had explained during questioning by the State that her blood pressure had gone up when she received her summons, but also said she didn't mind serving; upon questioning by defense counsel, she also affirmed that it was her "Christian duty" and duty "[a]s a citizen" to serve. She said she did not believe that the trial would interfere with her blood pressure.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>While at first glance one could mistake this statement standing alone as a *sua sponte* strike for cause, careful reading shows this is not the case. The court expressly said, "I find it is a racially neutral reason. . . . I am allowing it." Were the court striking for cause, there would have been no need to evaluate the racial balance of the reason, and as there was no pending motion to strike for cause, the phrase "I am allowing it," could refer only to the State's peremptory strike.

Respondent's state and federal constitutional rights were violated and must be redressed by the order of a new trial.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments and authorities, Respondent respectfully requests that this Court decline to exercise its discretionary authority to review the certified question.

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